
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF MISSISSIPPI 

SOUTHERN DIVISION 
 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA ex rel.  
CORI RIGSBY AND KERRI RIGSBY RELATORS

VS CIVIL ACTION NO. 1:06-cv-00433-LTS-RHW

STATE FARM MUTUAL INSURANCE 
COMPANY, NATIONWIDE INSURANCE 
COMPANY, ALLSTATE INSURANCE 
COMPANY, USAA INSURANCE COMPANY, 
FORENSIC ANALYSIS ENGINEERING 
CORPORATION; EXPONENT FAILURE 
ANALYSIS, HAAG ENGINEERING CO., JADE 
ENGINEERING, RIMKUS CONSULTING 
GROUP INC., STRUCTURES GROUP, E. A. 
RENFROE, INC., JANA RENFROE, GENE 
RENFROE and ALEXIS KING DEFENDANTS

DEFENDANT E. A. RENFROE & COMPANY, INC.’S 
REBUTTAL TO [224] “RELATOR’S OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANTS’ MOTIONS 
TO DISMISS THE AMENDED COMPLAINT UNDER RULES 12(b)(6) AND 9(b)” 

COMES NOW the Defendant, E. A. RENFROE & COMPANY, INC. (“Renfroe”), and 

files its Rebuttal to Relators’ Opposition To “Motion To Dismiss For Failure To Comply With 

Rules 12(b)(6) and 9(b)” [Docket No. 224]. 

Relators have conceded that the entirety of the Amended Complaint should be dismissed 

as to Gene and Jana Renfroe individually1 and that three of the substantive False Claims Act 

(“FCA”) counts -- Counts I, II, and IV -- of the Amended Complaint should be dismissed as 

against Renfroe.  Opp. Mem. [Docket No. 224] at 1.  This concession, however, did not go far 

enough.  The Court also should dismiss the remaining two counts against Renfroe -- Count III 

                                                 
1  Defendants Jana Renfroe and Gene Renfroe (the “Renfroe Individuals”) have challenged and continue to 
challenge the Court’s jurisdiction over them in their individual capacities and, therefore, do not appear for purposes 
of this rebuttal. 
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(FCA conspiracy) and Count V (retaliation) -- because the conspiracy and retaliation allegations 

against Renfroe are as meritless as the counts Relators have agreed should be dismissed. 

The remaining counts should also be dismissed for the reasons Renfroe made clear in its 

opening memorandum of law in support of its motion to dismiss (“Renfroe Mem.”) [Docket No. 

116].  Quite simply, these two counts fail to meet applicable pleading requirements.  For Count 

III, this means the Amended Complaint fails to allege the essential elements of a conspiracy to 

violate the FCA and fails to provide sufficient detail to satisfy Rule 9(b).  For Count V, this 

means the Amended Complaint fails to meet even the notice pleading requirements of Rule 8(a).  

Nothing in Relators’ opposition memorandum, which barely discusses Renfroe, overcomes these 

pleading deficiencies.  Therefore, for the reasons stated in Renfroe’s opening memorandum and 

below, Counts III and V should be dismissed.   

Furthermore, Relators’ sole response to Renfroe’s motion to dismiss -- to the extent their 

opposition memorandum addresses Renfroe at all -- is to say that the Amended Complaint, as it 

currently stands, is sufficient.  Because Relators have not offered this Court any glimpse of 

further factual allegations regarding Renfroe that they would make (or could make, consistent 

with Rule 11) in order to satisfy the respective pleading thresholds for these two counts, Renfroe 

respectfully requests that the dismissal of Counts III and V be with prejudice, at least as to 

Relators. 

I. The Conspiracy Against Renfroe Fails To Satisfy The Requirements Of Both 
Rule 12(b)(6) and Rule 9(b) 

As Renfroe demonstrated in detail in its opening memorandum, the Amended Complaint 

does not allege all of the required elements of conspiracy under 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(3), let alone 

allege facts with sufficient specificity to meet the requirements of Rule 9(b), with regard to 

Renfroe.  See Renfroe Mem. [Docket No. 116] at 15-20. 
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A. The Allegations Supporting The Conspiracy Count Do Not State A Cause Of 
Action For Conspiracy Against Renfroe 

As it stands now, Renfroe is completely in the dark about any essential elements of its 

purported agreement to join the alleged conspiracy or of its purported role in that conspiracy.  In 

particular, there are no factual allegations concerning Renfroe to show that there ever was a 

“meeting of the minds” involving Renfroe to defraud the Government.  Nor are there allegations 

that Renfroe shared with its purported co-conspirators a specific intent to defraud the 

Government, as is required for an FCA conspiracy.  In their opposition memorandum, Relators 

attempt to gloss over these glaring deficiencies, going so far as to ignore completely the Supreme 

Court’s June 8 decision in Allison Engine Co. v. United States ex rel. Sanders, 128 S. Ct. 2123 

(2008), in which the Court outlined precisely what must be shown to establish an FCA 

conspiracy, including the requisite specific intent.   

In Allison Engine, the Supreme Court laid out the requirements for establishing an (a)(3) 

conspiracy.  Under Section 3729(a)(3), a plaintiff must show that the alleged conspirators 

“intended ‘to defraud the Government.’”  128 S. Ct. 2130 (quoting 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(3)).  

Moreover, “[w]here the conduct that the conspirators are alleged to have agreed upon involved 

the making of a false record or statement, it must be shown that the conspirators had the purpose 

of ‘getting’ the false record or statement to bring about the Government’s payment of a false or 

fraudulent claim.”  Id.  It also “must be established that they agreed that the false record or 

statement would have a material effect on the Government’s decision to pay the false or 

fraudulent claim.”  Id. at 2130-31.2  Having failed even to mention Allison Engine in their 

opposition memorandum, Relators do not explain how the Amended Complaint satisfies the 
                                                 
2  Although the Supreme Court had no occasion to address the level of agreement and intent applicable to 
conspiracies to violate Section 3729(a)(1), there is no reason such a conspiracy would not also have to involve an 
agreement with the purpose of presenting or causing the presentation of false or fraudulent claims to the 
Government. 
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requirements of 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(3).  As such, the conspiracy count must be dismissed 

against Renfroe because it does not meet the minimum standard for pleading.  E.g., Blackburn v. 

City of Marshall, 42 F.3d 925, 931 (5th Cir. 1995) (“dismissal is proper if the complaint lacks an 

allegation regarding a required element necessary to obtain relief” (citation and quotation marks 

omitted)). 

Even assuming, arguendo, that the Amended Complaint actually articulates the essential 

elements of an FCA conspiracy, it is plain that such bare-bones allegations, which merely parrot 

the elements of the cause of action and accuse a defendant of “conspiracy,” cannot satisfy even 

the liberal pleading standards of Rule 8.  This Court is “‘not bound to accept as true a legal 

conclusion couched as a factual allegation.’”  Norris v. Hearst Trust, 500 F.3d 454, 464 (5th Cir. 

2007) (quoting Papasan v. Allain, 478 U.S. 265, 286 (1986)).  Rather, to survive a motion to 

dismiss, a complaint must allege “more than labels and conclusions,” must provide more than “a 

formulaic recitation of the elements of a cause of action,” and must supply sufficient factual 

allegations “to raise a right to relief above the speculative level.”  Bell Atlantic Corp. v. 

Twombly, 127 S. Ct. 1955, 1965 (2007); Norris, 500 F.3d at 464.  As Renfroe explained in its 

opening memorandum, the Amended Complaint’s conclusory conspiracy allegations against 

Renfroe fail these requirements.   

B. The Amended Complaint Fails To Allege The Underlying Fraud With 
Sufficient Particularity To Satisfy Rule 9(b) 

Furthermore, even assuming that the Amended Complaint adequately alleges a 

conspiracy, the Amended Complaint still must be dismissed because the allegations of the 

underlying fraudulent activity fail to meet the requirements of Rule 9(b). 

Although Relators attempt to gin up some uncertainty as to whether Rule 9(b) applies to 

their FCA conspiracy count, there really is no question in this circuit that a “complaint in a[n] 
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[FCA] suit must fulfill the requirements of Rule 9(b).”  United States ex rel. Russell v. Epic 

Healthcare Mgm’t Group, 193 F.3d 304, 308 (5th Cir. 1999).  “The conduct to which liability 

attaches in a[n] [FCA] suit consists in part of false statements or claims for payment presented to 

the government.  Because such statements or claims are among the circumstances constituting 

fraud in a[n] [FCA] suit, these must be pled with particularity under Rule 9(b).”  Russell, 193 

F.3d at 308 (internal citation omitted).  See also Renfroe Mem. [Docket No. 116] at 14. 

As Renfroe explained in its opening memorandum, the factual allegations pertaining to 

the underlying fraudulent activity (namely, the conspiracy to violate subsections (a)(1) and 

(a)(2)) are woefully inadequate and do not satisfy the requirements of Rule 9(b).  See Renfroe 

Mem. [Docket No. 116] at 6-14.  With regard to Renfroe, the Amended Complaint’s lack of 

specificity is particularly striking in several respects:3  For example, the Amended Complaint 

hardly distinguishes the conduct among the eleven different defendants, fails to provide a factual 

basis for any of the “on information and belief” allegations pertaining to Renfroe, and does not 

identify any individual employees at Renfroe whose conduct gives rise to FCA liability for 

Renfroe. 

In their opposition memorandum, Relators ask this Court to dispose of the requirements 

of Rule 9(b) altogether, and, in the alternative, Relators reassert that their allegations are 

sufficiently detailed.   

Relators’ request that this Court relax Rule 9(b) should be summarily rejected.  If indeed 

there are cases where relaxing Rule 9(b) is appropriate, this case certainly is not one of them.  

The Fifth Circuit has made clear that the relaxation of Rule 9(b) is appropriate “when the facts 

relating to the alleged fraud are peculiarly within the perpetrator’s knowledge.”  Russell, 193 
                                                 
3  Undoubtedly this is so because Relators added Renfroe as a defendant in the Amended Complaint over a 
year later in retaliation for Renfroe’s refusal to drop both its lawsuit and contempt charges against Relators in 
federal district court in Alabama. 
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F.3d at 308.  Relators in this case claim to be “insiders” with “direct and independent 

knowledge” of the scheme they have alleged in their Amended Complaint.4  Yet, so far, they 

have not articulated any aspect of this supposed fraudulent scheme beyond the generalized 

allegations in the Amended Complaint.  And, now, they are asking this Court to relax the 

requirements of Rule 9(b) because, they assert, “many of the facts at issue are exclusively within 

State Farm’s knowledge.”  Opp. Mem. [Docket No. 224] at 12-13, 24 n.11. 

These positions are irreconcilable.  Their claimed “insider” status completely undermines 

their assertion that State Farm (or any other defendant in this case) has “exclusive” access to the 

evidence underlying their allegations.  At best, Relators’ arguments are an inartful attempt to 

obfuscate the fact that they have no basis for implicating Renfroe in the alleged conspiracy or 

fraud.  Relators cannot claim to be insiders with their own direct and independent knowledge of 

the fraudulent scheme they have alleged in their Complaint5 and, at the same time, ask this Court 

to relax Rule 9(b) because they say they do not have (and never have had) inside information and 

access to the facts underlying their allegations.  If Relators are, in fact, the insiders they claim to 

be, it simply strains credulity that they would not have had access to the facts relating to the 

fraud they have alleged.  Cf. United States ex rel. Doe v. Dow Chem. Co., 343 F.3d 325, 330 (5th 

Cir. 2003) (rejecting relator’s request to relax Rule 9(b) where the relator had “at no time alleged 

that he did not have access to facts relating to the fraud”).  The Fifth Circuit has admonished that 

the exception allowing for the relaxation of Rule 9(b) “must not be mistaken for license to base 

claims of fraud on speculation and conclusory allegations.”  United States ex rel. Thompson v. 

                                                 
4  See, e.g., Opp. Mem. [Docket No. 224] at 1 (“The Rigsbys are true whistleblowers whose allegations are 
based on their eyewitness observations and direct knowledge obtained as insiders at State Farm.”). 
5  See Russell, 193 F.3d at 309 (“[T]he [FCA] grants a right of action to private citizens only if they have 
independently obtained knowledge of fraud.” (citing the public disclosure/original source provision in 31 U.S.C. 
§ 3730(e)(4)). 
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Columbia/HCA Healthcare Corp., 125 F.3d 899, 903 (5th Cir. 1997) (quotation marks and 

citation omitted).  Relators are asking this Court for that license, and their request should be 

denied.  See Russell, 193 F.3d at 309 (“A special relaxing of Rule 9(b) is a qui tam plaintiff’s 

ticket to the discovery process that the statute itself does not contemplate.”). 

Finally, although Renfroe certainly does not endorse the practice, some courts have 

allowed qui tam relators to cure a complaint’s Rule 9(b) deficiencies, not by amending the 

complaint but, instead, by supplying the missing details in their opposition to a motion to 

dismiss.  See, e.g., United States ex rel. El-Amin v. George Washington Univ., No. 95-2000 

(JGP), 2005 WL 485971, at *12 (D.D.C. Feb. 25, 2005).  Relators here, however, have not (or 

could not) avail themselves of this secondary tactic of adding more detail to their allegations, 

despite their “insider” status and the elaborate and clandestine efforts they undertook to secure 

documents to support their claims of fraud.  In their opposition memorandum, Relators have 

given no indication that they possess any additional information that would allow them to set 

forth allegations consistent with the requirements of Rule 9(b).  If anything, their repeated 

requests to take discovery should demonstrate conclusively that, in fact, their purported 

independent knowledge of the alleged fraudulent scheme has been exhausted.  With Relators 

having no more knowledge or detail to shore up the generalized allegations in their Amended 

Complaint, allowing Relators to amend their Amended Complaint would be of no value, and 

Renfroe’s motion to dismiss should be granted with prejudice. 

II. The Amended Complaint Does Not Plead Essential Elements Of A Claim Under 
Section 3730(h) Against Renfroe 

Relators’ retaliation claim against Renfroe deserves a similar fate.  As Renfroe explained 

in its opening memorandum, Count V must be dismissed against Renfroe for the straightforward 

reason that the Amended Complaint does not allege that Renfroe ever knew of Relators’ 
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purported “protected activity,” which also means that Renfroe could not have retaliated against 

them because of that activity.  See Renfroe’s Mem. [Docket No. 116] at 20-26.  Here again, 

nothing in Relators’ opposition memorandum contradicts this basic flaw in the Amended 

Complaint. 

Relators assert in their opposition memorandum that the Amended Complaint “clearly 

alleges that Renfroe and State Farm knew of Relators’ protected activity.”  Opp. Mem. [Docket 

224] at 26.  But this statement is simply not true.  In fact, it is clear from Relators’ own 

opposition memorandum that Relators themselves do not believe that the Amended Complaint 

properly alleges Renfroe knew of their purported “protected activity” at the time Relators’ 

employment with Renfroe ended, as demonstrated by their having to rely on what they say are 

“reasonable inferences” that can be drawn from their allegations that they informed State Farm 

of their protected activities.  See Opp. Mem. [Docket No. 224] at 26-27. 

To be clear:  The facts that Relators have alleged are that they told State Farm and State 

Farm’s attorneys about their “data dump” weekend and their conversations with federal 

prosecutors.  They have not alleged anywhere in their Amended Complaint that they or anyone 

else told Renfroe, their employer, about their “protected activity.”6  Although paragraph 148 of 

the Amended Complaint alleges that the “defendants” knew of Relators’ protected activity, the 

Amended Complaint names eleven different defendants.  Everything else about paragraph 148, 

the surrounding paragraphs, and the paragraphs in the body of the Amended Complaint makes it 

clear that the only defendant that was allegedly told of Relators’ protected activity was State 

Farm, not Renfroe.  Indeed, according to the Amended Complaint, the sole basis for anyone’s 

knowledge of Relators’ protected activities before their employment with Renfroe ended is that, 
                                                 
6  There is, in fact, good reason that Relators have not alleged Renfroe knew of their alleged protected 
activity.  Relators cannot make this allegation in good faith because it is clear from their own deposition testimony 
that they never informed Renfroe of their purported protected activities. 
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on June 5, 2006, Relators told State Farm about their “data dump” weekend and that they had 

provided copies of documents to federal prosecutors.7   

Finally, the discrimination prohibited by Section 3730(h) must be “in the terms and 

conditions of employment.”8  For this reason, it is irrelevant that Renfroe subsequently brought 

suit against the Rigsbys in Alabama to recover the documents the Rigsbys stole and to enjoin the 

Rigsbys from using those documents.  Section 3730(h) is an employment retaliation statute -- its 

only concern is discriminatory actions that affect an employee’s “terms and conditions of 

employment.”  Relators must admit that their employment with Renfroe ceased long before 

Renfroe brought suit in the Alabama case.  See Amended Compl. [Docket No. 16) ¶¶ 34-35 

(alleging that Relators were discharged from employment by E. A. Renfroe and “[t]hereafter, in 

September 2006,” Renfroe initiated the Alabama litigation).  Thus, by the time Renfroe initiated 

the Alabama litigation in September 2006 to enforce Relator’s employment contracts and 

confidentiality agreements, Relators were no longer employees of Renfroe and the “terms and 

conditions” of their employment with Renfroe could not have been affected by those 

proceedings. 

                                                 
7  Lest there be any doubt that Relators realize they have failed to allege facts showing Renfroe knew of their 
purported “protected activity,” Relators also argue in their opposition memorandum that “[a] reasonable jury could 
infer that State Farm would have informed its co-conspirator of Relators’ protected activity, and that both State 
Farm and Renfroe would then have retaliated by discharging Relators.”  Opp. Mem. [Docket No. 224] at 27.  Thus, 
Relators confuse their Rule 8 obligation to set forth in their Amended Complaint the required elements of their cause 
of action with the reasonable factual inferences that may be drawn from adequate pleadings.  Moreover, the case 
Relators cite (Opp. Mem. [Docket No. 224] at 27) as support here, United States ex rel. Satalich v. City of Los 
Angeles, 160 F. Supp. 2d 1092 (C.D. Cal. 2001), is of no help to them.  In Satalich, it was clear that the relator (a 
former City of Los Angeles employee) had specifically alleged in his complaint, despite filing it pro se, that he had, 
in fact, informed his employer (the City) of his “protected activity” through his “efforts to bring the subcontractor’s 
allegedly fraudulent conduct to the attention of City officials.”  Id. at 1108.  The district court alluded to the alleged 
FCA conspiracy between the City and others only to help explain why, in that case, the City might have had a 
motive to retaliate against the employee despite the court’s ruling that the City was immune from liability under the 
FCA.  Id. at 1094, 1108-09.  No similar or analogous allegations have been made here regarding notice to Renfroe. 
8  The full phrase authorizes a cause of action for “[a]ny employee who is discharged, demoted, suspended, 
threatened, harassed, or in any other manner discriminated against in the terms and conditions of employment by his 
or her employer . . . .”  31 U.S.C. § 3730(h). 
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Relators have not alleged facts that, if true, would entitle them to recover against Renfroe 

under Section 3730(h).  This disconnect is palpable.  Because “dismissal is proper if the 

complaint lacks an allegation regarding a required element necessary to obtain relief,” 

Blackburn, 42 F.3d at 931 (citation and quotation marks omitted), Count V must be dismissed. 

WHEREFORE, and for the foregoing reasons, as well as those stated in its opening brief, 

E. A. Renfroe & Company, Inc. respectfully requests that the Court grant Renfroe’s motion to 

dismiss in its entirety and dismiss all counts against Renfroe in the Amended Complaint with 

prejudice. 

THIS, the 29th day of September 2008. 

Respectfully submitted, 
 
E. A. RENFROE & COMPANY, INC., 
Defendant 
 
BY:   s/ H. Hunter Twiford, III  
 H. Hunter Twiford, III 
 One of its Attorneys 

OF COUNSEL: 
H. Hunter Twiford, III (MSB 8162) 
Stephen F. Schelver (MSB 101889) 
Candy Burnette (MSB 100582) 
McGLINCHEY STAFFORD PLLC 
Suite 1100, City Centre South 
200 South Lamar Street (Zip – 39201) 
Post Office Box 22949 
Jackson, Mississippi 39225-2949 
Telephone:  (601) 960-8400 
Facsimile:  (601) 960-8431 
Email:  htwiford@mcglinchey.com;  
sschelver@mcglinchey.com; cburnette@mcglinchey.com 

and 
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John T. Boese (PHV) 
Beth C. McClain (PHV) 
Fried, Frank, Harris, Shriver & Jacobson LLP 
1001 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W., Suite 800 
Washington, DC  20004-2505 
Phone:  (202) 639-7000 
Fax:  (202) 639-7008 
Email:  John.Boese@friedfrank.com; 
 Beth.McClain@friedfrank.com 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I, the undersigned H. Hunter Twiford, III, McGlinchey Stafford PLLC, hereby certify 
that on this day, I electronically filed the foregoing with the Clerk of the Court using the ECF 
system, which sent notification of such filing to the following: 

Felicia C. Adams - felicia.adams@usdoj.gov, amy.kittrell@usdoj.gov  

Michael B. Beers - PHV - mbeers@beersanderson.com, tina@beersanderson.com 

William C. Bell - wcbellaw@aol.com 

Kelly R. Blackwood - blackwok@phelps.com 

Larry G. Canada - lcanada@gjtbs.com, msoleto@gjtbs.com 

Benjamin R. Davidson - PHV - davidsonb@gilbertrandolph.com 

Robert C. Galloway - bob.galloway@butlersnow.com, kathy.gray@butlersnow.com,  
 ecf.notices@butlersnow.com 

Cecil Maison Heidelberg - maison@heidelbergpa.com, susan@heidelbergpa.com, 
ginny@heidelbergpa.com, macie@heidelbergpa.com 

Virginia R. Kennedy - ginny@heidelbergpa.com, macie@heidelbergpa.com, 
maison@heidelbergpa.com 

Craig J. Litherland - PHV - litherlandc@gilbertrandolph.com 

August J. Matteis, Jr. – PHV - matteisa@gilbertrandolph.com 

Kathryn Breard Platt - kbreard@gjtbs.com 

Emerson Barney Robinson, III - barney.robinson@butlersnow.com,   
joyce.smith@butlersnow.com, ecf.notices@butlersnow.com 

James C. Simpson, Jr. - jsimpson@monbar.com, mcuevas@monbar.com 

Philip Williams Thomas - pthomas@thomasattorney.com, mdurham@thomasattorney.com  

Frank W. Trapp - trappf@phelps.com 

Jeffrey A. Walker - jeff.walker@butlersnow.com, ecf.notices@butlersnow.com, 
connie.knight@butlersnow.com 

David A. Ward, Jr. – PHV - ward@dwardlaw.com, spencer@dwardlaw.com, 
mcclaine@dwardlaw.com 

and I hereby certify that I have mailed by United States Postal Service the document to the 

following non-ECF participants: 

Forensic Analysis Engineering Corporation 
Robert K. Kochan, President 
3401 Atlantic Avenue 
Suite 101 
Raleigh, NC 27604 
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 THIS, the 29th day of September, 2008. 
 

 
 
       s/ H. Hunter Twiford, III    
       H. HUNTER TWIFORD, III 
237458.2 


